Minutes of a meeting of Essex County Council held at County Hall, Chelmsford on 8 July 2014

Present

Chairman: Councillor N Hume

Vice-Chairman: Councillor J F Aldridge

Councillors:

J Abbott	R J Gooding	R A Madden
B Aspinell	I Grundy	M Maddocks
S Barker	C Guglielmi	M McEwen
R L Bass	D Harris	M McGeorge
A Bayley	A M Hedley	V Metcalfe
K Bentley	G Helm	A Naylor
D Blackwell	I Henderson	Lady Newton
K Bobbin	T M A Higgins	P Oxley
R G Boyce	R Hirst	M J Page
A Brown	P Honeywood	J W Pike
M Buckley	R C Howard	C Pond
G Butland	M Hoy	J M Reeves
P Channer	J Huntman	S Robinson
K Clempner	E C Johnson	C Seagers
T Cutmore	J G Jowers	K Smith
M Danvers	D J Kendall	J Spence
T Durcan	N Le Gresley	K Twitchen
M Ellis	S Lissimore	S Walsh
D Finch	J Lodge	R G Walters
M D Fisher	R Lord	J Whitehouse
R Gadsby	M Mackrory	J A Young

Prayers

The meeting was preceded by prayers led by The Reverend Canon Carol Smith, County Council Chaplain and Vicar of the Church of England Parish Church for Moulsham Lodge with Tile Kiln, in the Diocese of Chelmsford.

Public Questions

Mrs Maureen Smith, a resident of Tendring, had registered to ask the following question of Council:

'As I understand there is no statutory requirement on highway authorities to provide public lighting however, Essex County Council has a statutory duty under Section 97 of the Highways Act 1980 where it states:

- 1.) every local highway authority may provide lighting for the purposes of any highway or proposed highway for which they are or will be the highway authority, and may for that purpose -
- (a) contract with any persons for the supply of gas, electricity or other means of lighting; and
- (b) construct and maintain such lamps, posts and other works as they consider necessary
- 9.2 The Council has a statutory responsibility to provide a safe and efficient highway network for the benefit and safety of all road users.

Therefore, my belief is that street lighting is provided to:

- ensure the safety of all road users,
- reduce the fear of crime and increase the feeling of security when it is dark,
- support the 24hour economy by promoting economic development and
- support social inclusion by facilitating the use of the road network at night.

As a resident of Tendring my belief is this has not been executed when implementing 'Part-night lighting' and I would therefore like to know when it will be and to see written proof where this 'duty' was implemented in the 'Risk Assessment / Consultation.'

The Chairman called upon Councillor Bass, Cabinet Member for Highways, to respond. Councillor Bass confirmed that the County Council has no statutory duty to provide lighting on public highways, but may do so. However, the Council is required to light certain road features, which it does, and these are lit all night.

The part-night scheme was introduced in Tendring following successful trials elsewhere, and following extensive consultation with the emergency services, Tendring District Council and the public who sent a large number of responses. There are exception criteria, which are applied in high-risk areas.

The Chairman thanked Mrs Smith for her contribution.

1. Apologies for Absence

Apologies for absence were received on behalf of Councillors W Archibald, J Chandler, J Deakin, A Erskine, K Gibbs, A Jackson, J Knapman, D Louis, A Turrell and A Wood.

2. Declarations of Interest

There were no declarations of interest.

3. Minutes of the meeting held on 13 May 2014

Resolved:

That the minutes of the meeting held on 11 February 2014 be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman, subject to two minor amendments raised by Councillors Mackrory and Pond.

4. Chairman's Announcements

Award

The Chairman on behalf of the Council received from Councillor R Bass, Chairman of the Essex Pension Fund Board, an award from Professional Pensions for 'Best Public Sector Scheme of the Year 2014'. The Chairman reminded Members that this was the second award the Essex Pensions Fund had won in the preceding six months.

Visits

The Chairman informed Members of a number of significant visits he had undertaken since taking office as Chairman.

Robert Overall

The Chairman informed the meeting that Robert Overall, Deputy Chief Executive and Executive Director for Place Commissioning, left Essex County Council on 31 May, in order to pursue a career in consultancy. The Chairman paid tribute to his contribution to the development and transformation of the organisation and asked Members to join him in wishing Mr Overall the very best for the future.

5. Presentation of Petitions

The Chairman received petitions relating to:

- street lighting in Basildon presented by Councillor K Bobbin;
- introduction of a 20 mph speed limit in Rivenhall, presented by Councillor J Abbott; and
- the closure of Fairycroft House, Saffron Walden, presented by Councillor J Lodge.

The Chairman passed the first two petitions to the Cabinet Member for Highways and Transportation and the third to the Cabinet Member for Education and Lifelong Learning.

6. Executive Statement

Prior to the Leader's statement the Chairman indicated that it was his intention to take all matters on the Agenda relating to Lord Hanningfield at this point.

The Leader of the Council gave the following statement.

'As you will by now have heard, I took the decision last week to take no further action in relation to the ongoing matter of Lord Hanningfield's expenses.

This was not an easy decision as I recognise that there is public and member interest in the case and some people feel we should take action to recover money from Lord Hanningfield. The advice I have had from our professional advisers is that the case would, in all probability, fail and that we would spend yet more public money pursuing a case with uncertain chances of success. I am not prepared to do that. It is incumbent upon me to take the right course of action now and not embark on an expensive and time consuming legal case which we are unlikely to win. On balance, I feel I must have due regard for public funds and so with a heavy heart I have come to the conclusion that we should not embark on an expensive and time consuming legal case which we are unlikely to win.

'I have taken account of the recommendation of our Audit Committee not to take any further action and have consulted with my Cabinet colleagues who agree that, regrettably, this is the right thing to do.

'I would echo the words of Councillor Susan Barker, the Chairman of our Audit Committee, regarding the improvements made to our governance arrangements. Like her, I am satisfied that the Council now has in place robust governance arrangements and operates in a much more transparent and open environment, I am confident that this sort of unreasonable and extravagant expenditure does not, and would not, take place today.

'I am angry and frustrated by this situation. Lord Hanningfield should have demonstrated better judgement and more restraint while he was Leader of this Council. I now call upon him publicly to do the right thing and repay the money to the Council.'

A motion to accept this statement was moved by Councillor Bass and seconded by Councillor Jowers.

Prior to the Motion being put, ten Members demanded a division by name by standing in their places.

The Motion having been put it was declared to be carried by 38 votes for, 26 against and with one abstention.

Those voting for the Motion were Councillors:

J F Aldridge	I Grundy	V Metcalfe
S Barker	C Guglielmi	A Naylor
R L Bass	A M Hedley	Lady Newton
K Bentley	R Hirst	M J Page
R G Boyce	P Honeywood	J W Pike
A Brown	R C Howard	C Pond
M Buckley	N Hume	J M Reeves
G Butland	E C Johnson	C Seagers
P Channer	J G Jowers	J Spence
T Cutmore	S Lissimore	K Twitchen
D Finch	R A Madden	S Walsh
R Gadsby	M Maddocks	R G Walters
R J Gooding	M McEwen	

Those voting against the Motion were Councillors:

J Abbott	D Harris	R Lord
B Aspinell	G Helm	M Mackrory
A Bayley	I Henderson	M McGeorge
K Bobbin	T M A Higgins	P Oxley
K Clempner	M Hoy	S Robinson
M Danvers	J Huntman	K Smith
T Durcan	D J Kendall	J Whitehouse
M Ellis	N Le Gresley	J A Young
M D Fisher	J Lodge	_

Councillor D Blackwell abstained.

7. Written questions to the Leader of the Council relating to Lord Hanningfield

9. By Councillor R Lord of the Leader of the Council

'Would the Leader of the Council concur, that those members and officers; who knowingly or innocently, benefitted from Lord Hanningfield's generous hospitality, which has now been ruled as inappropriate, now show a degree of empathy with him and make a contribution, no matter how modest, towards those costs?'

Reply

The majority of the expenditure incurred on the credit card was legitimate. We have no evidence to suggest that members or officers received any personal benefit from the expenditure incurred on Lord Hanningfield's credit card and so we will not be asking them to make a contribution.

15. By Councillor J Young of the Leader of the Council

'In light of the deplorable decision by the Audit Committee (01-Jul-14) to exclude the public from the item on Lord Hanningfield's expenses, would the Leader of the Council confirm whether he is able to make publicly available documentation relating to the proceedings of the meeting that arrived at a recommendation to take no further action?'

Reply

I do not consider the decision by the cross-party Audit Committee to be deplorable. They took a considered view of the matter and reached a reasonable conclusion based on the professional advice they had received on a very difficult issue. The meeting was chaired by the Chairman of the Committee, Councillor Susan Barker, so I am not sure why the question is directed at me. But I would wish to be as open as possible in relation to my own decision and will make relevant documents available publicly as soon as possible, and subject of course to legal advice.

8. Motions

Increased Business Confidence

It was moved by Councillor S Lissimore and seconded by Councillor P Channer

'That this Council welcomes the recent news that the UK economy grew by 0.8% in the first three months of 2014, and the UK is now one of the fastest growing western economies. This Council recognises that the direct impact in Essex has been to improve business confidence, help to secure jobs and improve skills.

'The creation of the Essex Employment and Skills Board led by business and further and higher education together with the Greater Essex Business Board, is a clear indication that the policies of this Council and its partner organisations have increased business confidence and are helping to improve the lives and futures of our residents.'

It was moved by Councillor J Young and seconded by Councillor I Henderson that the motion be amended to read as follows:

'That this Council welcomes the recent news that the UK economy grew by 0.8% in the first three months of 2014, and the UK is now one of the fastest growing western economies. This Council recognises that the direct impact in Essex has been to improve business confidence, help to secure jobs and improve skills.

The creation of the Essex Employment and Skills Board led by business and further and higher education together with the Greater Essex Business Board is to be welcomed and the policies of this Council should be guided by supporting their objectives in areas such as improving careers advice, increasing the

provision of apprenticeships and promoting sustainable employment to improve the lives and futures of our residents.'

Upon being put to the meeting the amendment was declared to be lost.

Upon being put to the meeting the Motion was declared to be carried.

Part-Night Street Lighting and Part-Night Lighting

The Chairman ruled that the Motions 'Part-Night Street Lighting' and 'Part-Night Lighting' should be taken as one debate.

It was moved by Councillor D Kendall and seconded by Councillor S Robinson

'That the members of Essex County Council call on the administration to give Essex residents more democratic control and flexibility in terms of how part night lighting operates in their local areas.

As residents were not properly consulted before part night time lighting was introduced, the County Council will now:

- 1. Fund the full cost of a referendum on whether part night lighting should continue in a specific area if a city, borough or district council calls for one to take place.
- 2. If the majority of the residents taking part in the referendum call for the lights to be switched back on, then the County will abide by that democratic decision and will meet all the ongoing costs.'

It was moved by Councillor I Henderson and seconded by Councillor M Danvers

'That the Council acknowledges the responsibility for elected representatives to take decisions on behalf of our communities across Essex.

Council recognises that in doing so, residents should be put at the heart of the decisions taken, ensuring that the safety and well-being of our residents are of principal importance.

Council acknowledges that it has failed to consult our residents countywide despite investment of £6.5m of taxpayers' money to enact a countywide partnight lighting policy, and failed to carry out individual risk assessments for each district to assess the safety of drivers, cyclists and pedestrians.

Council calls on the Administration to put residents first, by discontinuing partnight lighting at least pending a formal countywide public consultation (to include gathering views on alternative lighting strategies and technologies such as LED/white light/alternate lighting) and for individual risk assessments to be carried out for each district and independently verified.'

Prior to the Motion moved by Councillor Kendall being put, ten Members demanded a division by name by standing in their places.

The Motion having been put it was declared to be lost by 26 votes for, 36 against and with 2 abstentions.

The Motion moved by Councillor Henderson having been put, it was also declared to be lost by 26 votes for, 36 against and with 2 abstentions.

Those voting for the Motions were Councillors:

B Aspinell	D Harris	M Mackrory
A Bayley	G Helm	M McGeorge
D Blackwell	I Henderson	P Oxley
K Bobbin	T M A Higgins	C Pond
K Clempner	M Hoy	S Robinson
M Danvers	J Huntman	K Smith
T Durcan	D J Kendall	J Whitehouse
M Ellis	N Le Gresley	J A Young
M D Fisher	R Lord	

Those voting against the Motions were Councillors:

J F Aldridge	I Grundy	M McEwen
S Barker	C Guglielmi	V Metcalfe
K Bentley	A M Hedley	A Naylor
R G Boyce	R Hirst	Lady Newton
A Brown	P Honeywood	M J Page
M Buckley	R C Howard	J W Pike
G Butland	N Hume	J M Reeves
P Channer	E C Johnson	C Seagers
T Cutmore	J G Jowers	J Spence
D Finch	S Lissimore	K Twitchen
R Gadsby	R A Madden	S Walsh
R J Gooding	M Maddocks	R G Walters

Those abstaining were Councillors J Abbott and J Lodge.

9. Adjournment

With the agreement of Council the Chairman adjourned the meeting for luncheon at 1:25pm.

The meeting reconvened at 2:30pm.

10. Motions (continued)

Commendation of the Administration's Determination

It was moved by Councillor J Spence and seconded by Councillor V Metcalfe

'That this Council commends the Administration's determination to achieve both a range of strategic outcomes and a balanced budget, and recognises that this will inevitably require difficult issues to be raised and difficult choices to be made.'

Upon being put to the meeting the Motion was declared to be carried.

Withdrawal of Subsidy for Meals on Wheels Service

The Chairman indicated that this Motion had been withdrawn.

11. To consider the adoption of the Essex Minerals Local Plan

The Cabinet Member for Libraries, Communities and Planning, Councillor J Jowers, presented a report seeking approval to the Essex Minerals Local Plan.

Resolved:

- 1. That in accordance with section 20(3) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 the Council formally adopt the Essex Minerals Local Plan (2014-2029) in the form set out at Appendix A to the report together with the proposals map in the form available for inspection at the meeting.
- 2. That the Director for Operations: Environment and Economy be authorised to make formatting changes and correct any typographical errors in order to publish the local plan.
- 3. That the Director for Operations: Environment and Economy be authorised to approve the adoption statement and Strategic Environmental Assessment adoption statement.

12. To receive the annual report of the Essex Pension Fund Board

The Annual Report of the Essex Pension Fund Board was received and adopted.

13. The Leader's Report of Cabinet Issues

The Leader, Councillor D Finch, presented a report concerning matters considered by Cabinet since the last Council meeting.

The report of Cabinet Issues was received and adopted.

14. Written questions to the Leader of the Council and Cabinet Members

1. By Councillor G Butland of the Leader of the Council

'In his budget speech on 12th February 2013 your predecessor, Cllr Peter Martin, stated that "We will continue to explore areas where we can save money and protect front-line services and become more efficient. This must also include elected members too.

We are proposing that the independent Boundary Commission undertakes an electoral review of the Council to see if we can save money by having fewer members while retaining strong and vibrant local democracy."

What progress has been made on this proposal?'

Reply

While I welcome the opportunity to remind members once again that this administration is focused on providing the best possible value for Essex residents and am open to any and all ideas to save money, I do not see an electoral review at this stage as a priority. Electoral reviews decide not only how many councillors represent a council, but also the division boundaries that they represent. Their primary function is to ensure electoral equality – where each councillor represents around the same number of electors – and to provide for effective and convenient local government.

Given the last electoral review of this Council only ended in 2004 and set an appropriate council size and provided for electoral equality, and given that a new review might take up to two years to complete and may indeed decide that we need fewer, the same or even more councillors, I do not think it would be appropriate to take forward a request to the Local Government Boundary Commission for England to carry out such a review at this time. We will keep our full focus on delivering quality services for residents against a backdrop of the Care Act, health integration, increasing demand on services and reduced budgets from Government, but will continue to keep an open mind on whether to seek a review at a future point.

In response to a supplementary question, the Leader confirmed that this comprehensive response made the situation clear for all Members until 2017.

2. By Councillor D Kendall of the Leader of the Council

'ISO 14000 Environmental Management:

The ISO 14000 family addresses various aspects of environmental management.

Would the Leader please tell me which departments within Essex County Council operate under the ISO 14000 Environmental Management system?'

Reply

Given the diverse nature of County Council services it would be impractical to have overarching ISO 14001 accreditation. Equally it is not always the best measure of a service where some services have their own industry standards.

The Council is however committed to ensuring a better quality of life by conserving, developing and promoting a healthy, safe, diverse, clean and attractive environment. We have developed an Environmental Statement for exactly this reason (please see below), which we believe is a more appropriate option for a large and diverse organisation but still sets a clear vision and expectation for our services to follow.

The Council also uses a pre-qualification requirement in our procurement process to ask if suppliers of goods and services are ISO 14001 accredited, or similar. Contractors such as Ringway Jacobs and Mitie are for example compliant.

Essex County Council's Environmental Statement

Our Vision

We recognise that our operations and statutory duties have an impact on the environment and as an organisation we have a responsibility to manage these impacts where possible. In working towards a more sustainable future we are committed to minimising our adverse impacts and maximising the positive impacts on our environment, both within the organisation, with our partners and the wider community.

To ensure we move closer to fulfilling our vision we will aim to:

- Manage the impacts of climate change and reduce our contribution to the causes;
- Use our own resources efficiently, reducing wasted materials and energy and therefore money;
- Minimise the adverse environmental impact of the goods and services we procure and maximise the positive opportunities;
- Continually improve our environmental performance by:
 - o assessing the environmental risks of our decisions;
 - o carrying out reviews of Council policies and actions;
 - complying with, or exceeding, environmental legislation and regulations;
- Promote sustainable management, planning, design, construction and drainage:
- Ensure all staff, Members and Contractors understand the environmental impact of their actions and decisions, through awareness and education, policy reviews and encouraging them to lead by example by taking action to mitigate their

environmental impacts and to share best practice. Encourage other public sector partners, community groups and businesses in local environmental projects.

3. By Councillor D Kendall of the Cabinet Member for Highways and Transportation

'Many of my residents are very concerned about the poor quality of pothole repairs in my County Division and across Brentwood as a whole. I understand that there is routinely a random audit of 5% of all pothole repairs carried out including the Jet Patcher. If that is the case, would it be possible for Members to be provided with a copy of this audit report each time it is completed so that we can give our residents some assurances over the standard and quality of any work completed in our areas?

Would you also please provide the following information:

- How often are pothole audits completed?
- Who undertakes the pothole audits?
- Why has the audit information not been shared with Members?
- If Members are concerned about the quality of a pothole repair, who should they report it to?'

Reply

The Scrutiny Committee and/or Audit Committee are the appropriate Member structures to examine the standard and quality of work carried out on the highway. I, as Cabinet Member, am ultimately responsible to Members, regularly attend the Scrutiny Committee to respond to Members' questions and make myself available to Members at weekly surgeries of which Cllr Kendall availed himself only last week.

As the Cabinet Member had left the meeting by this point, Councillor Johnson, as Cabinet Member Deputy for Highways and Transportation, responded to a supplementary question, that there was a plan in place, which would shortly be implemented, now that the Priority Routes 1 & 2 had been dealt with.

The Leader confirmed that the question would be addressed to the Cabinet Member and that the Member would receive a response.

4. By Councillor T Higgins of the Cabinet Member for Education and Lifelong Learning

What are Cabinet Members doing to ensure our young people with

complex needs are having their education and other needs met by Essex Schools?

How many are being placed out of county because our specialist schools claim they cannot help?'

Reply

There is currently a lack of specialist places within Essex Schools for pupils with autism (ASD) and for pupils with emotional, social and mental health difficulties. This is the main reason for pupils being placed out of authority independent schools.

In response to this gap the Special Educational Needs & Disability Strategy 2014-19 proposes the establishment of additional specialist provision to enable all Essex children to receive a high quality education within Essex. This additional provision is being developed in partnership with the Essex Special School Education Trust (ESSET), utilising the expertise of this strong and largely outstanding special school sector.

There will be 4 new enhanced provisions for autism (ASD) attached to mainstream schools established in 2015 and a further 4 in 2016, supported by local special schools specialising in ASD. The County Council has secured the support of the Essex School Forum to undertake investment of up to £42m to create some 370 new places in specialist provision in the County for September 2016 and 2017. The detail is being developed with ESSET but it is likely that two new special schools supporting pupils with severe ASD will be established by September 2016 with some residential component. In addition two outstanding Essex special schools will be expanded and rebuilt (one in 2015 and one in 2016) to include specific ASD provision.

It is likely that further provision for pupils with emotional, social and mental health difficulties will also be established including a residential component. These new provisions will utilise County Council-owned land to maximise the effectiveness of the County's estate. The County Council is also supporting the possible development of appropriate special Free schools in Essex as a complementary resource.

'How many are being placed out of county because our specialist schools claim they cannot help?'

At 27 June 2014 there were 286 children placed at independent schools at a total cost of almost £23m a year. Of these, 131 are day placements, 95 are weekly or termly placements and 60 are 42 or 52 week placements. The independent school placements led by education happen in the main for the following reasons:

- no suitable provision in the County at the time of the placement;
- no places available in specialist provision at the time of need;
- a breakdown of the placement in either the mainstream or special school, often coupled with the above.

Some placements, particularly the 42-52 week ones are led by Social Care. This will include children who are in the care of the local authority. Where children are in care their progress and welfare, including the appropriateness of the educational provision, is monitored closely by the social worker, the Independent Reviewing Officer and by the Virtual Head for looked after children.

5. By Councillor M Ellis of the Cabinet Member for Highways and Transportation

'Will the Member for Highways and Transportation consider reviewing the agreement/contract between the LHP and the bus companies with regard to the endless requests for upgrades and improvements?

This requires a large amount of LHP funds that are ideally required elsewhere within the LHP; the bus companies do not contribute to the works but remain profit making organisations.

To remedy this situation will the Cabinet Member also consider approaching the bus companies with a view to sourcing funding?'

Reply

There is no contract as such between bus operators and the LHP in place. Where bus operators highlight a missing or desired element of public transport infrastructure, this is considered by the relevant officers and if felt to be a suitable request then this can be considered by the LHP assuming that it has appropriate Member support. I could certainly explore the idea of the bus operators themselves contributing to infrastructure in a more systematic way.

6. By Councillor M Mackrory of the Cabinet Member for Education and Lifelong Learning

'Will the Cabinet Member use his best endeavours to persuade those responsible for school buildings to lift their objections to the installation of solar panels on school roofs?'

Reply

The County Council supports the use of renewable energy, including solar energy; however these schemes need to be carefully considered to address the technical and legal points raised as well as ensuring the best deal is achieved. A guide document on this issue

was drafted in July 2013 and distributed to all schools in Essex. The objective of this guide is to provide technical, commercial and legal guidance to schools regarding the installation of solar panels.

I will send Councillor Mackrory a copy of the guide.

7. By Councillor S Robinson of the Cabinet Member for Highways and Transportation

'Will the Cabinet Member please thank those who inspect highway defects and do give helpful answers, for example, "The pavement defect at X has been assessed and we are carrying out further investigations. This enquiry will be updated within 20 working days of 26/06/2014."

However, will he please remind ALL staff that - once an assessment has been conducted - their reports must include an indication of action planned and some kind of timescale, or say "no action to be taken".

For example, "Problem X has been inspected and assessed" is not an acceptable answer [e.g. case 2330912] and neither is: "To be repaired" [cases 2333039, 2334824 and six other cases in Trent Road].

If Trent Road, Chelmsford is not going to be resurfaced this year, will it at least be patched?

Reply

Yes - and wherever possible a timescale will be given. The new reporting module also enables progress to be tracked.

Trent Road, Chelmsford is a local road and was last inspected on 28 May where concerns were detected with the linings and defects on the road and the intention was to resurface Trent Road and reconstruct the footway during the summer school holiday period.

However, with major redevelopment works at Lawford Mead school commencing in August, it is sensible to postpone this until the next financial year and instead carry out a raft of carriageway preparation works in late July. We will write to residents of Trent Road to explain this.

In response to a supplementary question, the Leader confirmed that there was a major programme underway at present, to improve customer service and to provide answers that are in plain English and tailored to the individual enquiry. He or the Executive Director would welcome feedback on any examples of where this has not been achieved.

8. By Councillor S Robinson of the Cabinet Member for Education and Lifelong Learning

'Does the Cabinet Member agree that courses paid for by the Adult Community Learning budget (e.g. basic English, Maths and English Spoken as a Second Language [ESOL]) are helpful in finding people employment, and that ESOL courses can help integrate communities?

How is the budget deployed to achieve that objective?'

Reply

I do agree that many courses supported through Adult Community Learning (ACL) help people to find employment, or at least move them nearer to the job market. Every academic year, ACL receives an Adult Skills Budget funding allocation from the Skills Funding Agency (SFA) to deliver qualifications to the people of Essex. In the 2013-14 academic year, the allocation was £3.9m.

The Adult Skills Budget is used for the following:

- courses to support people to gain employment or improve employment prospects (including maths, English and ESOL)
- Workplace Learning
- Apprenticeships and Traineeships

In 2013-14, Adult Community Learning has supported the following numbers of learners across Essex:

Maths 1396 learners English 1166 learners ESOL 762 learners

The Adult Skills budget for 2014-2015, allocated to ACL by the SFA, is £3.3 m of which £1.3 m has been deployed for the delivery of maths, English and ESOL.

Every learner is offered the opportunity to have a one-to-one advice session with a qualified and independent IAG (Information, Advice and Guidance) advisor. The advisors work with individual learners to

find the most suitable future pathways. This will include employment opportunities, further training as well as informing the learners of local support groups within the community. Progression data (including job outcomes) is collected at the end of the academic year.

In addition, many of ACL's non-accredited learning courses funded by the SFA's Community Learning budget and learner fees often help people into self-employment, with examples in jewellery making, silversmithing and cake decoration.

In response to a supplementary question, concerning a provider not being able to engage in dialogue about its loss of provision, Councillor Gooding confirmed he was aware and agreed to look into it

10. By Councillor R Lord of the Cabinet Member for Highways and Transportation

'Could the Cabinet Member for Highways and Transportation explain the system for prioritising resurfacing work, particularly in some isolated rural areas?

It appears that some perfectly good stretches of road are being resurfaced whilst others with denser housing, in dire need of repair, admittedly to the untrained eye, are persistently ignored.'

Reply

The prioritisation of resurfacing work and the type of resurfacing treatment is recommended by officers to the Cabinet Member based objectively on assessed condition. It is always better where possible to seal the surface of any road before defects begin to appear. Isolated rural roads should be patched and then surface dressing will be the typical type of treatment.

11. By Councillor J Abbott of the Cabinet Member for Waste and Recycling

'The Cabinet Member has stated in writing that there are "no plans" to close any recycling centres in Essex. Can he specifically confirm that due to its strategic importance, the Witham Recycling Centre in Perry Road will remain open at least for the duration of the current County Council administration and will not be subject to any closure options during the forthcoming review?'

Reply

With the express consent of the Chairman, and on an exceptional basis, an oral response was given to this question at the meeting.

The Cabinet Member confirmed that the Perry Road Centre will not close within the period of this administration.

12. By Councillor J Abbott of the Cabinet Member for Highways and Transportation

'Is the Cabinet Member aware that the Department for Transport (DfT) has a national policy which encourages local authorities to consider implementing 20mph speed limits in residential areas "to ensure greater safety for pedestrians and cyclists"? Is he further aware that 11.7 million people already live in areas that are implementing widespread 20mph speed limits and a further 1.8 million people live in local authority areas where there is a commitment to introduce them? When will Essex join the growing list of authorities committed to 20mph limits?'

Reply

Yes. The County Council will consider the introduction of 20 mph limits in appropriate locations and is thereby committed to the principle. Such limits can be judged and progressed by each Local Highways Panel provided they comply with approved policy guidelines.

13. By Councillor D Harris of the Cabinet Member for Highways and Transportation

'Could the Portfolio Holder confirm how many KPIs are in place for the Ringway Jacobs contract; how many of those KPIs are directly linked with levels of customer satisfaction and response times to potholes; and finally what is the threshold, which would generate an option not to renew the contract if a certain number of KPIs were not reached?'

Reply

Currently 112 of which 10 are linked to customer satisfaction and 4 to response times for defects. These need, in my view, a degree of rationalisation. If the threshold level for a performance measure is not achieved for 24 consecutive months then, the Authority may, at its discretion, terminate the relevant service element of the contract.

14. By Councillor D Harris of the Cabinet Member for Highways and Transportation

'Would the Portfolio Holder consider in the interest of greater transparency and accountability of the Ringway Jacobs contract, that members of Place Services and Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee be provided with reports such as quarterly performance reviews from the Council's Strategic Partnership Board with Ringway Jacobs (subject to appropriate governance arrangements), to ensure

adequate strategic overview and direction of the service offered to residents in Essex?'

Reply

I am content for the Scrutiny Committee to examine any aspect of the Ringway Jacobs contract as that Committee thinks fit. Executive responsibility for the strategic overview and direction of the service rests, however, with me as Cabinet Member.

16. By Councillor J Young of the Cabinet Member for Education and Lifelong Learning

'Would the Portfolio Holder honour his commitment made to the People and Families Scrutiny committee on 4 February 2014 to work with the community to find a financial resolution to support parents in Wivenhoe access school transport to The Colne their community school? Furthermore, would he accept a meeting with parents from Wivenhoe to work through the issue?'

Reply

To be clear, the policy makes provision for the County Council to fund transport for children to their nearest school, where the relevant distance criteria are met. This is entirely consistent with the law on school transport, established and honoured by successive Parliaments. We will also continue to provide transport to those children with special education needs and those from low income families where this is a statutory entitlement.

As you are aware, I have already met with you and the Headteacher of The Colne School to discuss this issue. I have explained how the Council can facilitate transport to school for those children who, under the new policy, will not be entitled to receive this for free from the Council with effect from September 2015.

The Council has already put in place arrangements, via a ticket agreement, to ensure there will be enough seats available for entitled and non-entitled children. The Council will pay for seats (tickets) for those entitled children and a combination of the school, parents and the Town Council could pay for those seats required for non-entitled children under the new policy. Thus, bus provision will still be available for those from Wivenhoe wishing to attend The Colne. We are keen to work on the detail of this with the school and would welcome the school embracing this in support of Wivenhoe parents who wish for their children to attend the school.

The scrutiny committee asked me to 'meet local community groups to explore alternative funding options'. This is what I have been doing

since that meeting and I am happy to arrange further meetings at County Hall with a representative from parents, the Town Council and the School.

The aim of such a meeting will be to explore how the school and the local community could work together to fund the seats for children who will not be entitled to free transport, but it must be made clear that the County Council cannot fund those seats. Nor can we passport any monies in lieu of entitlement to Colchester Academy; this I have explained clearly to the school and parents/community representatives who have contacted me about this.

In response to a supplementary question, the Cabinet Member confirmed that these arrangements might not be what the school and parents would have expected, but he pointed out that the situation had been discussed with the various parties and he had decided that it was not possible to implement a special provision here. This would set a precedent across the County that would go against the intention to remove anomalies.

17. By Councillor D Henderson of the Cabinet Member for Highways and Transportation

'Could the Portfolio Holder confirm the total figure that the Council had to borrow to cover the shortfall in funding for the £6.5m investment in a Central Management System to enable part-night lighting in Essex?'

Reply

There was no shortfall in funding for the £6.5m investment referred to. It was a decision taken some while ago after investigation by the Scrutiny Committee and an appropriate business case. The Council's individual investment decisions do not result in matched borrowing. The borrowing needs of the Council are assessed by the Finance function taking into account the overall capital position of the Authority and all relevant funding and investment needs and anticipated disposals.

18. By Councillor K Bobbin of the Cabinet Member for Highways and Transportation

'Could the Portfolio Holder confirm how many petitions Essex County Council has received in total relating to the part-night lighting policy along with the total number of signatures from those petitions and the total number of groups/organisations that also signed?'

Reply

Twelve petitions with a total of 5,307 signatures. (This does not

include the petition presented by Councillor Bobbin earlier in the meeting.)

19. By Councillor K Clempner of the Cabinet Member for Adults Social Care

'The Disabled Facilities Grant enables disabled and elderly people to have the adaptations they need to make it easier to live at home, reducing the need to access health and social services. Could the Portfolio Holder provide a statement on what plans do Essex County Council have to continue this grant beyond the current year, and if it is to be discontinued, what assessment has been made on the impact to individuals and other services?'

Reply

I can confirm this Fund will continue beyond the current year. The Disabled Facilities Grant is a statutory responsibility that lies with the local housing authority of the District, Borough and City councils in Essex.

From April 2015 the Disabled Facilities Grant funds will be devolved annually directly to the Districts and Boroughs and City councils so that they may continue to discharge their responsibility to invest the Disabled Facilities Grant. This will come from the Better Care Fund.

This was confirmed in the Essex Better Care Fund Plan, approved by the Essex Health and Wellbeing Board on 27 March and submitted to NHS England on 4 April 2014.

In response to a supplementary question, the Cabinet Member confirmed that the funding will come directly from the Government, via the Better Care Fund. The districts have asked for increased funding; this has not been forthcoming.

20. By Councillor K Clempner of the Cabinet Member for Adults Social Care

'Essex County Council currently provides Social Care Funding to assist with Supported Housing for those unable to live independently. Could the Portfolio Holder confirm how many people are supported in this way and what level of funding is currently provided in Harlow, and what plans are there to alter this beyond the current year?'

Reply

In Harlow, the County Council funds supported housing provision for adults with disabilities, adults with mental health problems, vulnerable young people, women fleeing domestic violence and vulnerable older people. This provides support for:

 28 adults with a disability in supported living schemes in Harlow. Through the Increasing Independence programme we intend to develop an additional 240 units of accommodation for this group of service users across Essex over the next three years to enable people to maximise their independence

- 516 vulnerable older people in sheltered or Extra Care schemes
- 40 refuge places for victims of domestic abuse. In addition, a floating support service is provided. The County Council is currently working with partners including the Police and Probation to review future provision - this is likely to include a wider choice of alternatives to refuge provision
- 138 vulnerable young people in supported accommodation.
 The largest single scheme is the Harlow foyer with 116 places
- 36 supported living places for adults with mental health problems. The County Council is working with Clinical Commissioning Groups, Mental Health Trusts, Providers and other key stakeholders to find more community based living options.

This is funded partly through the Social Care budget and partly through the Housing Related Support (HRS) budget. This is over £2.7m for Harlow.

In response to a supplementary question, the Cabinet Member confirmed that the HRS services were currently under consideration and the intention was to restyle the service. No projects had yet been aligned. The Cabinet Member agreed to give Councillor Clempner a special briefing on this, once she knew about Harlow's situation.

21. By Councillor M McGeorge of the Cabinet Member for Adults Social Care

'Could the Portfolio Holder outline how the Meals on wheels service is currently promoted to potential new service users who might benefit from a nutritious hot meal each day?'

Reply

The meals service may be offered to residents who have contacted the County Council requesting support to meet their needs. A social worker will discuss the resident's wellbeing needs and consider a variety of options to help the individual meet these while helping them remain as independent as possible. So for example, if the individual can cook their meals but can't shop, they would be directed to a shopping service (e.g. Age UK). If it is decided between the social worker and the individual that the meals service is the best way to ensure their wellbeing, then the Council will direct them to it.

Sodexo is the only hot meals service that the County Council will arrange as a part of this process. On our website, however, we do provide details of other local providers for individuals who would like to arrange support for themselves for their own personal convenience. This is a private arrangement between provider and service user.

15. Oral questions of Leader of the Council, Cabinet Members and Committee Chairmen

 Councillor C Pond pointed out that he had heard nothing further with regard to the petition about improvements on Loughton High Road, which had been presented to the Cabinet Member for Economic Development in February, and which had subsequently been passed on to the Cabinet Member for Highways and Transportation; and he sought some response.

The Leader agreed to remind both parties to contact Councillor Pond.

 Councillor S Barker asked whether the Cabinet Member for Highways and Transportation could consider reinstating the restrictions on lorries overtaking on the M11.

Councillor Johnson confirmed that the Cabinet Member was already having discussions about this.

3. Councillor D Kendall asked the Deputy Cabinet Member for Highways and Transportation about whether Ringway Jacobs liaised with other parties involved in highway maintenance. He cited the work carried out on Ongar and Chelmsford Roads in Brentwood, asking whether it was supposed to be complete, as it was not of a sufficient standard.

Councillor Johnson replied that he was surprised at this; however he agreed that he would ask the Cabinet Member for Highways and Transportation to respond to this himself, in writing.

4. Councillor M Mackrory noted that the timing of this Council meeting clashed with the LGA Annual Conference and he asked the Leader whether this could be taken into consideration next year.

The Leader agreed that such clashes should be avoided if possible and he would use his best endeavours to avoid this happening again.

5. Councillor S Robinson asked the Leader to effect the transformation of Members' IT, to enable agendas to be distributed and accessed electronically, so cutting out the need for paper copies. He added that Members were unable to access the internal system via the Council's wireless guest network.

In response the Leader pointed out that there was a movement toward using technology in this way, and already several Cabinet Members took this approach. He encouraged Members to do likewise, as all papers were accessible online. Regarding the access issue, he believed that access by personal devices was restricted, on grounds of security. He would investigate this and confirm this with Councillor Robinson.

6. Councillor K Smith asked the Cabinet Member for Families and Children whether one of his constituents could contact him about the proposed closure of Leverton Hall.

The Cabinet Member agreed to this.

7. Councillor Smith, referring to parents who have been fined for taking their children out of school, specifically asked the Cabinet Member for Education and Lifelong Learning for his views on families taking their children out of school in the wake of a delay in the issuing of passports by the Passport Office.

The Cabinet Member replied that the continuity of education is the important factor. A very good reason is needed for a headteacher to allow children to be out of school, so he would not necessarily condone such an absence.

8. Councillor M Hoy asked the Deputy Cabinet Member for Highways and Transportation if Members could be kept abreast of the workings of the partnership formed with Rochford District Council, within the context of its Area Action Plan.

The Deputy Cabinet Member confirmed that they would.

9. Councillor Hoy referred to the Youth Centre in Hullbridge, where a Mothers and Toddlers Group is unable to use this facility, as it does not meet the age requirements. He asked the Cabinet Member for Education and Lifelong Learning for an opportunity to discuss this matter.

The Cabinet Member confirmed he would be happy to do so.

10. Councillor M Le Gresley noted that the Government is investing over £1 billion in garden city schemes. Given that Essex is in a good position to take advantage of this, would the Leader agree to recommend that this be added to the agenda of the next Essex Leaders and Chief Executives meeting.

The Leader pointed out that the Chairman of this meeting would decide what items go on the agenda and when, but he confirmed that he would offer this as a future agenda item and would recommend it be considered. He would keep Councillor Le Gresley informed of any progress.

11. Councillor J Whitehouse referred to the renewal of a number of local bus services on 30 August. He asked the Deputy Cabinet Member for Highways and Transportation whether he believed this gave enough time for these,

given the PSB slippage from the original timetable, and if he believed that one-year contracts were too short to allow companies to plan ahead and develop their services and infrastructure.

The Deputy Cabinet Member confirmed his belief that one year was sufficient and pointed out that the Cabinet Member had previously explained the bus companies' situation with regard to their supplementation payment, and the consequent fallout from this.

16. Oral questions of the representative of the Essex Police and Crime Panel

There were no questions of the Panel's representative.

17. To note the report of the Essex Fire Authority's meeting on 18 June and to ask questions of the Authority's representative

The report of the Fire Authority's meeting held on 18 June 2014 was received.

There were no questions of the Authority's representative.

The meeting closed at 15:59.

Chairman 14 October 2014